
SPECIAL MEETING HELD BY THE BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT OF THE TOWN 

OF OCEAN RIDGE, FLORIDA TO BE HELD IN THE TOWN HALL ON 

WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 10, 1997, AT 8:30 AM. 

 

The meeting was called to order and roll call was answered by the following: 

 

  Robert Cunningham  Patricia Frick 

  Luis Vinas   Vice Chairman Jones 

 

III. Approval of the Minutes of October 14, 1997 

 

Mrs. Frick moved to approve the minutes of the October 14, 1997 meeting as submitted, 

seconded by Mr. Cunningham. 

 

Motion carried – Yea 3 (Jones Abstain) 

 

IV. Variance Applications 

A. An application submitted by John/Virginia Azzato, 46 Bimini 

Cove Dr., Ocean Ridge, FL 33435, requesting a variance from the 

provisions of the Land Development Code, Article VI; Marinas, 

Docks and Bulkheads, Section 26-93; Location and Height of 

Docks; Paragraph (b); No dock shall project more than five feet 

into any waterway line or established bulkhead line, to permit 

construction of 80’ long by 7’8” wide wood dock which would 

exceed the maximum 5’ wide dock permitted by code located at 

the above described address or legally  described as Lot 46, Inlet 

Cay Subdivision. 

 

Town Clerk Hancsak read the variance request by title only.  She noted for the record that 

there has been no additional correspondence and that all fees had been paid. 

 

Town Clerk Hancsak and Vice Chairman Jones read the Justification of Application.  The 

Azzato’s advised that there is unusually low water behind their house as a result of the 

neighboring lot jutting into the canal causing silt and sediment to gather in front of their 

seawall.  They stated that there are other docks on the canal which extend further than 

their request.  The justification stated that 7’8” was the minimum variance possible and 

had been approved by the State.  They concluded that their dock would still be further 

back from others in the canal and therefore, be in harmony with the public welfare. 

 

Vice Chairman Jones asked if there had been any ex parte communications on the part of 

the Board members.  Vice Chairman Jones advised that he had visited each of the 

properties and spoken to the residents of the second hearing at 55 Spanish River Dr. 

 

Town Clerk Hancsak read the administrative comments from Town Manager Lanker.  

Town Manager Lanker stated that there is a special circumstance regarding the placement 

of the canal and its effect on the depth of the area behind the Azzato’s residence.  He 



SPECIAL MEETING HELD BY THE BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT OF THE TOWN 

OF OCEAN RIDGE, FLORIDA ON WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 10, 1997, 8:30 AM 

 2

stated that it is the minimum request needed to accommodate the size boat that the 

Azzato’s wish to have.  He concluded that he did not believe that granting the request 

would be injurious to the public welfare and that he recommended approval. 

 

Vice Chairman Jones asked if the applicants had any comments.   

 

John Azzato introduced himself to the Board and advised that he did not have any 

comments at the time.   

 

David Berger, 45 Bimini Cove Dr., advised that he has a dock that protrudes 5’ from the 

property line.  He stated that the variance request for 46 Bimini Cove Dr. does not 

include the cap of the seawall which would add 15” to their request creating a total 

protrusion of 9’5”.   

 

Mr. Berger distributed a drawing which showed the relationship of the Azzato’s proposed 

dock (with a 9’5” protrusion) to the dock behind his residence.  He advised that he 

designed his deck with the view of the Intracoastal and sunset in mind and the granting of 

the variance would detract from this.  He stated that the problem with maneuvering a boat 

in 18” of water during low tide does not qualify as a hardship.  He also distributed 

pictures of his view of the Intracoastal Waterway.   

 

Vera Klein, 7 Sailfish Lane, stated that if Mr. Berger is correct in his calculations, he has 

a legitimate complaint and the request should be denied. 

 

Town Clerk Hancsak swore in Mr. Azzato. 

 

Mr. Azzato explained that he does not have the deep water similar to Mr. Berger.  He 

stated that he had investigated the option of dredging the area which they found would be 

very expensive and would undermine the seawalls of his property and those to the east 

and west.  He commented that the State measured the depth at 18” at low tide and 

recommended 7’8” for the dock.  He added that he had discussed the dock with Mr. 

Berger when they first moved in and was told by him that it was a good idea.  He advised 

that he was surprised that Mr. Berger was opposing it at this meeting.  He concluded by 

advising the Board that their dock would still be 30’ from the main boat traffic. 

 

Vice Chairman Jones asked if the seawall cap was 18” along the whole property.  Mr. 

Azzato stated that at one end it is only approximately 5”, but most of it is at 18”. 

 

Vice Chairman Jones asked for the depth of the wall.  Mr. Azzato replied that he was not 

aware of the depth. 

 

Mr. Berger advised that if the dock was reduced in width on the 40’ on the west, his view 

would not be effected.  Vice Chairman Jones suggested reducing the dock to 5’ on that 

end.  Town Manager Lanker explained that 5’ from the property line would start 

somewhere in the cap not at the edge of the cap.   

 



SPECIAL MEETING HELD BY THE BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT OF THE TOWN 

OF OCEAN RIDGE, FLORIDA ON WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 10, 1997, 8:30 AM 

 3

Vice Chairman Jones asked Mr. Azzato what he thought of the reduction of the size of 

the dock on the western 40’.  Mr. Azzato explained that he had not thought about that 

alternative.  Mr. Berger suggested that the Azzato’s consider the request and resubmit.  

Mr. Azzato advised that he would like to have the request resolved at this meeting as he 

had already been working on it for three months. 

 

Dr. Vinas advised that he had experts investigate whether or not he could do what he 

wished on his property before he bought his house.  Mr. Azzato stated that he did 

likewise and a contractor told him that the situation could be accomplished simply. 

 

Vice Chairman Jones asked if the boat would be less than 80’ long.  Mr. Azzato advised 

that they had not purchased their boat yet, but expected it to be between 35’ and 40’. 

 

There was discussion on where Mr. Berger’s suggestion would be measured from.  Mr. 

Berger explained that he was suggesting that the 5’ be not from the cap, but from the 

property line.  Mr. Azzato stated that he had measured other docks in the canal which all 

seem to be measured from the edge of the cap and not the property line. 

 

The Board of Adjustment then went into executive session. 

 

Dr. Vinas advised that he did believe a compromise would be the best option since the 

neighbor is in disagreement.  He stated that he favored the option of reducing the western 

40’ to 5’. 

 

Mr. Cunningham concurred stating that he was comfortable with the 40’/40’ split with 

the measurement beginning from the edge of the cap. 

 

Vice Chairman Jones stated that he believed if the docks in Town were measured, it 

would be discovered that most were measured from the edge of the cap and not the 

property line. 

 

Mr. Berger questioned the protrusion allowed if a resident installed an 8’ cap.  Vice 

Chairman Jones stated that he did not believe residents would be installing caps of that 

magnitude. 

 

Dr. Vinas moved to approve the variance request with the modification that the western 

40’ of the dock only extend 5’ from the edge of the cap and the eastern 40’ extend 7’8” 

from the edge of the cap as submitted. 

 

Mr. Berger advised that the South Florida Water Management District would not approve 

it to be measured from the edge of the cap.  Vice Chairman Jones stated that the SFWMD 

would have considered that when they approved the project. 

 

Mr. Cunningham seconded Dr. Vinas’ motion. 

 



SPECIAL MEETING HELD BY THE BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT OF THE TOWN 

OF OCEAN RIDGE, FLORIDA ON WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 10, 1997, 8:30 AM 

 4

Town Clerk Hancsak asked if the 2’8” reduction would be gradual or a cut edge.  Mr. 

Cunningham advised that if it were gradual, the reduction would be on the 7’8” half. 

 

Roll call was made on Dr. Vinas’ motion. 

 

Motion carried – Yea 4. 

 

B. An application submitted by Joseph/Karen Gretzula, 55 Spanish 

River Dr, Ocean Ridge, Fl 33435, requesting a variance from the 

provisions of the Land Development Code, Article II, District 

Regulations, Section 26-10; Single-Family Residential Districts, 

Paragraph (e); RSF-Single Family Residential Property 

Development Regulations, Sub Paragraph (2) (b), minimum side 

yard setbacks and also Sub Paragraph (6), maximum floor area 

ratio (FAR) and Article XIV; Nonconforming and Grandfathered 

Uses, Section 26-221; Grandfathered Uses, Lots and Structures, 

Paragraph (e), grandfathered structures; Sub Paragraph (1), 

alteration, extension, enlargement or expansion to permit 

construction of a second story addition consisting of two bedrooms 

and one bathroom that would encroach 2” into the required 15’ 

side yard setback and enclose an existing entrance porch into a 

sitting room.  This request also exceeds the maximum permitted 

36% FAR (currently grandfathered at 42%) to 48%.  Located at the 

above described address or legally described as Lot 55, Inlet Cay 

Subdivision. 

 

Town Clerk Hancsak read the variance request by title only.  She noted for the record that 

all fees had been paid. 

 

Town Clerk Hancsak advised the Board that one additional piece of correspondence had 

been received from Peter Secchia, 56 Spanish River Dr. in which he stated his emphatic 

support.  He states that the addition which would only encroach 2” into the setback is not 

at all objectionable to him. 

 

Town Clerk Hancsak and Vice Chairman Jones read the justification of application 

submitted by the Gretzula’s.  They explained that their home is an older home with only a 

master bedroom and a guest bedroom which is small for the community.  They state that 

with a baby on the way, they will need additional space.  The justification states that the 

variance is the minimum needed to realize their needs and will have minimal effect on 

the surrounding area.   

 

Town Clerk Hancsak read the administrative comments from Town Manager Lanker.  He 

stated that the home was built to different code requirements than are currently in effect 

which allowed for a greater square footage for their home and others on the street.  He 

explained that some of the open space could be converted to second floor area which 

would avoid increasing the outside shell of the house.  He stated that he did not believe 



SPECIAL MEETING HELD BY THE BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT OF THE TOWN 

OF OCEAN RIDGE, FLORIDA ON WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 10, 1997, 8:30 AM 

 5

the variance would be detrimental to the public welfare and that it was within the general 

intent of the code.  He concluded that in applying the hardship requirement to the request, 

he could not recommend approval for the increase in the FAR.  He did advise that he 

would recommend approval for the setback request. 

 

Town Clerk Hancsak swore in Joseph Gretzula. 

 

Correspondence was read by Town Clerk Hancsak that had been previously distributed to 

the Board which consisted of five letters from residents near the Gretzula’s who were all 

in support of the granting of the variance request. 

 

There were no comments from the applicant or the public. 

 

Vice Chairman Jones asked if there had been any consideration given to the conversion 

of the den to a bedroom.  Dr. Gretzula stated that as a physician, he used the den as a 

private place in the home to make phone calls to patients and finish reports and other 

work. 

 

Vice Chairman Jones commented that there is not a substantial change to the bulk of the 

house and asked what the additional height would be to the top of the roof.  Gino 

DeSantos, architect for the Gretzula’s, stated that the new height would be 24’ as opposed 

to the current 14’.   

 

Vice Chairman Jones stated that if the code did not currently include a penalty of area 

with ceilings over 16’ counting as double, the FAR request would only be an increase 

from approximately 38% to 45%. 

 

The Board then went into executive session. 

 

Mr. Cunningham stated that he favored the flat roof being eliminated.  He asked how 

they would get to the additional space.  The architect explained that a new stairwell is 

being added as opposed to a new corridor connecting it with the existing area which 

would add 120 square feet.  Dr. Vinas asked if he was correct in interpreting that they 

would have to go down one set of stairs on the side of the master bedroom and up another 

set to reach to bedroom on the other side to which Dr. Gretzula replied that they would. 

 

Mr. Cunningham moved to approve the variance request as submitted. 

 

Dr. Vinas questioned if the Board could grant approval for a hallway connecting the two 

sides which had not been included in the variance request.  Vice Chairman Jones stated 

that he would be uncomfortable granting such a large exception over the FAR as that 

would require.  Town Clerk Hancsak advised that the Board would not be able to grant 

more of a variance than what was in the advertisement for the hearing. 

 

Dr. Vinas seconded Mr. Cunningham’s motion. 

 



SPECIAL MEETING HELD BY THE BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT OF THE TOWN 

OF OCEAN RIDGE, FLORIDA ON WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 10, 1997, 8:30 AM 

 6

Motion carried – Yea 4. 

 

C. An application submitted by Randal Stofft, 6971 N federal 

Highway, Boca Raton, FL  33487, representing David Goldstein 

Trustee, for 6301 N Ocean Blvd., Ocean Ridge, FL  33435 

requesting a variance from the provisions of the Land 

Development Code, Article III; Supplemental Regulations, Section 

26-33; Fences, Walls and Hedges; Sub Paragraph (c) requiring that 

height of wall or fence located in the front yard shall not to exceed 

4’ in height above the grade of the crown of the street and Article 

XIV; Nonconforming and grandfathered Uses, Section 26-221; 

Grandfathered Uses, Lots and Structures, Paragraph (e), 

grandfathered structures; Sub Paragraph (1), alteration, extension, 

enlargement or expansion to permit the replacement of portions of 

the existing wall, add columns and gates exceeding the maximum 

height ranging from 2’8” to 6’8” located in the 25’ front yard 

setback which would also enlarge a grandfathered structure at the 

above described address or legally described as the S 121.50’ and 

N 121.50’ of the S 243’ of the N 664’ of that certain unnumbered 

block east of Ocean Blvd. in Boynton Beach Park 

 

Town Clerk Hancsak read the variance application by title.  It was noted for the record 

that there had been no additional correspondence and that all fees had been paid. 

 

Town Clerk Hancsak and Vice Chairman Jones read the justification of application.  The 

justification advised that as a result of being located at the busy intersection of Ocean 

Ave. and A1A, noise and lights would affect the property.  Security was also cited as a 

reason for the necessity of a buffer from the intersection.  It concluded that the wall and 

gate would be consistent with the homes in the area and the wall currently in place. 

 

Town Clerk Hancsak then read the administrative comments from Town Manager 

Lanker.  He advised that the entrance gate is behind the 25’ setback and is not subject to 

the wall height restriction.  He states that the height of the wall is consistent with the size 

of the home that will be on the property and with other walls along A1A.  He concluded 

that he recommended approval of the variance as submitted. 

 

Town Clerk Hancsak swore in Randal Stofft. 

 

Mr. Stofft explained that the entrance gate would be far enough removed from A1A to 

allow for the vehicle to be pulled entirely off the road.  He explained that there will be a 

fountain on both sides of the entrance gate and the existing wall will be reinforced and 

capped. 

 

Vice Chairman Jones questioned if the wall height would be increased.  Mr. Stofft 

explained that the wall is not consistent in height and will be strengthened structurally.  

Mr. Jones clarified that the wall would not be increased in height. 



SPECIAL MEETING HELD BY THE BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT OF THE TOWN 

OF OCEAN RIDGE, FLORIDA ON WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 10, 1997, 8:30 AM 

 7

 

Vice Chairman Jones stated that the application noted that the wall would be similar to 

the residence to the south.  He advised that he had walked in front of all of the adjacent 

homes and found he could touch the top of all the walls.  He added he would not be able 

to touch the newer section of the proposed wall.  Mr. Stofft explained that the wall would 

be 15’ from the road whereas the walls to which Mr. Jones is referring are immediately 

adjacent to A1A. 

 

Vice Chairman Jones asked if the gates were 25’ in width.  Mr. Stofft explained that the 

gates are 11’ in width each with metal posts.  Vice Chairman Jones questioned if the 

width in front of the service area entrance would be 25’ and the main entrance width 

would be 68’.  Mr. Stofft stated that the dimensions mentioned are not all gated area, as 

the gate will be recessed back from A1A.  He added that the landscape which will be 

installed will also camoflauge the area. 

 

Vice Chairman Jones stated that the justification cites the noise and intrusion of A1A and 

Ocean Ave.  He questioned how this could be accepted as a justification when the 

entrance is not perpendicular to the intersection.  Mr. Stofft stated that the design is to 

have the entrance directly in the center of the property.   

 

Vice Chairman Jones asked what the height of the wall behind the guardhouse is to which 

Mr. Stofft stated that it would be 8’8”.  Vice Chairman Jones concluded that the guard 

would not be able to see behind the wall without a camera. 

 

Vice Chairman Jones asked if it was possible to keep the entrance at least within two 

times what is allowable by code.  Mr. Stofft advised that they would not want the 

entrance to be lower than the wall.  He explained that the two columns connecting the 

8’8” areas are higher because otherwise it would not be correct architecturally.  Vice 

Chairman Jones stated that he had not found any other entrance along A1A with the 

exception of a hotel that had a 40% entrance area in front of it.  Mr. Stofft questioned if 

he would be more comfortable with the columns also being at 8’8”.  He reminded the 

Board that the gates are set back 25’ from A1A do not require a variance. 

 

Mr. Cunningham stated to keep in mind that they are looking at the entrance to a massive 

home.  He advised that he believed this entrance to be consistent with the house.  He 

stated that he found it appealing that the entrance is set back from A1A as far as it is 

since there may be considerable traffic at times and they would not be blocking A1A. 

 

Mr. Stofft advised that it was a neo-classical structure which would not be overpowering.  

He added that the relief provided by being set off from the street is an advantage and they 

should not be penalized for it. 

 

Vice Chairman Jones advised that he still believed that the entrance area is larger than 

necessary.  He stated that his client is providing this area to keep cars off A1A when 

waiting to gain entrance to the property.   

 



SPECIAL MEETING HELD BY THE BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT OF THE TOWN 

OF OCEAN RIDGE, FLORIDA ON WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 10, 1997, 8:30 AM 

 8

Vice Chairman Jones questioned what the acceptability would be to limiting the height to 

10’.  Mr. Stofft advised that he would be able to consider that. 

 

Dr. Vinas advised that he felt the gate as submitted was beautiful and that anything less 

would be ridiculous.   

 

Mrs. Frick concurred stating that given the size of the house, the entrance would be out of 

proportion if made to be smaller. 

 

Mrs. Klein stated that at she believed the house to be a “monster” already and adding to it 

like this would be atrocious. 

 

The Board then went into executive session. 

 

Mr. Cunningham stated that he felt the entrance was consistent with the house and 

anything smaller would be out of place.  He reiterated that he was pleased that they set 

the entrance back from A1A.  He stated that he recommended approval. 

 

Mrs. Frick stated that she concurred with Dr. Vinas and Mr. Cunningham.  She added 

that they need to keep the proportions right on the property. 

 

Vice Chairman Jones stated that he disagreed and that the other homes along A1A do not 

have walls that exceed 8’.  He added that he believed that the proposed variance was 

excessive. 

 

Mr. Cunningham moved to approve the variance application as submitted, seconded by 

Dr. Vinas. 

 

Motion carried – Yea 3 (Cunningham, Frick, Vinas) 

      Nay 1 (Jones) 

 

D. An application submitted by The Waterways at Ocean Ridge Inc., 

1355 W Palmetto Park Road, Suite 263, Boca Raton FL  33486, 

for 5840 N Ocean Blvd. (formerly known as Ocean Ridge Estates), 

requesting a variance from the provisions of the Land 

Development Code, Article VI; Marinas, Docks and Bulkheads, 

Section 26-93; Location and Height of Docks; Sub Paragraphs (b 

& c) requiring that no dock shall project greater than 5’ into any 

waterway and that dolphin pilings shall not project more than 20’ 

into any waterway and also Article XI; Subdivisions; Section 26-

179; Waterfront Land, Sub Paragraph 2; Design of Waterways 

requiring a minimum water depth of 6’ for a continuous bottom 

width of 20’ and where seawalls, bulkheads or retainage walls are 

not required, the design shall incorporate a minimum of a 4:1 slope 

from an existing ground to depth of 6’ to permit dock widths of 

10’, dolphin pilings 25’ into the waterway, a 3:1 slope and a 



SPECIAL MEETING HELD BY THE BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT OF THE TOWN 

OF OCEAN RIDGE, FLORIDA ON WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 10, 1997, 8:30 AM 

 9

reduction in the minimum canal depth to 4’ at the fourteen 

proposed waterfront homes located at 5840 N Ocean Blvd or 

legally described as the N 432.55’ of Gov Lot 3 LYG West of SR 

A1A. 

 

Town Clerk Hancsak read the variance request by title only.  It was noted for the record 

that no additional correspondence had been received and that all fees had been paid. 

 

Town Clerk Hancsak and Vice Chairman Jones read the justification of application.  The 

application states that the current canal requirements of the Town code have changed 

since the existing canals were constructed.  The application further states that the current 

code requirements are in contrast to the requirements from the SFWMD and the DEP. 

 

Town Clerk Hancsak then read the administrative comments from Town Manager 

Lanker.  He states that the recommended deviation from the Town code was necessary to 

receive the approvals from the environmental agencies.  He also states that the current 

code has not been updated since the existing canals were constructed.  In conclusion, he 

recommended approval of the variance as submitted. 

 

Town Clerk Hancsak swore in Joseph Pike, Win Hood, and Ron Klein who would testify 

in the variance hearing. 

 

Mr. Klein, attorney representing Waterways at Ocean Ridge, Inc., advised that the 

administrative comments summarized their position that the channel had to be designed 

to follow SFWMD requirements which are in conflict with the Town code. 

 

Vice Chairman Jones questioned the width of the basin.  Mr. Pike, Principal, 

EnviroDesign Associates, Inc. explained that it would be 120’ at the center, but mainly 

100’ wide. 

 

There was no public comment. 

 

The Board then went into executive session. 

 

Mrs. Frick stated that she approved of the request as it conforms to the environmental 

agencies’ standards.  Vice Chairman Jones suggested that the Planning and Zoning 

Commission look at updating the code regarding canals. 

 

Mrs. Frick moved to approve the application as submitted, seconded by Mr. Cunningham. 

 

Motion carried – Yea 4. 

 

V. Adjournment 

 

The meeting was adjourned at 10:30 AM. 

 



SPECIAL MEETING HELD BY THE BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT OF THE TOWN 

OF OCEAN RIDGE, FLORIDA ON WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 10, 1997, 8:30 AM 

 10

 

       ___________________________  

       Robert Cunningham 

 

 

       ___________________________  

       Patricia Frick 

Attest By: 

 

       ___________________________  

       Luis Vinas 

________________________  

Town Clerk 

       ___________________________  

       Vice Chairman Jones 

 


